
 

 

Am unrhyw ymholiad yn ymwneud â'r agenda hwn cysylltwch â Charlotte Evans 
 (Rhif Ffôn: 01443 864210   Ebost: evansca1@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 14 Medi 2016 

 
 
 
 
Annwyl Syr/Fadam, 
 
Bydd cyfarfod Cabinet yn cael ei gynnal yn Ystafell Sirhywi, Tŷ Penallta, Tredomen, Ystrad Mynach ar 
Dydd Mercher, 21ain Medi, 2016 am 2.00 pm. i ystyried materion a gynhwysir yn yr agenda canlynol. 
 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Chris Burns    

PRIF WEITHREDWR DROS DRO 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Tudalennau 
  

1  I dderbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb  
 

 
2  Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb. 

 
Atgoffi’r Cynghorwyr a Swyddogion o'u cyfrifoldeb personol i ddatgan unrhyw fuddiannau personol 
a/neu niweidiol mewn perthynas ag unrhyw eitem o fusnes ar yr agenda hwn yn unol â Deddf 
Llywodraeth Leol 2000, Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor a'r Cod Ymddygiad ar gyfer Cynghorwyr a 
Swyddogion.  
 
I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:-  
 
3  Cynhaliwyd y Cabinet ar 7fed Medi 2016.  

1 - 4 
 

I dderbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiad(au) canlynol y mae angen penderfyniadau gweithredol arnynt: -    
 
4  Canolfan Gymunedol Fochriw - Darpariaeth Gwasanaeth Ieuenctid.  

Pecyn Dogfennau Cyhoeddus



5 - 6 
 

5  Adolygiad o Gasglu Gwastraff a Newidiadau Mân Arfaethedig i Reoliadau Trefniadau Casglu 
presennol ar gyfer Gwastraff Bwyd / Gardd .  

7 - 28 
 

6  Claddu Gweddillion Amlosgedig.  
29 - 34 

 
 
Cylchrediad: 
 
Cynghorwyr 
 D. Havard, Mrs C. Forehead, N. George, D.T. Hardacre, K. James, Mrs B. A. Jones, D.V. Poole, 
K.V. Reynolds, T.J. Williams a R. Woodyatt,  
 
A Swyddogion Priodol. 



 

 

 

CABINET 
 

COFNODION Y CYFARFOD A GYNHALIWYD YN NHŶ PENALLTA, TREDOMEN 
AR DDYDD MERCHER 7FED Medi 2016 AM 2.00 p.m. 

 
 

YN BRESENNOL: 
 

Y Cynghorydd K. V. Reynolds – Cadeirydd 
 

Cynghorwyr: 
 

 C. Forehead (Adnoddau Dynol a Llywodraethu/Rheoli Busnes), N. George (Gwasanaethau 
Hamdden a'r Gymuned), D. Havard (Addysg a Dysgu Gydol Oes), D. Hardacre (Perfformiad a 
Rheoli Asedau), K. James (Adnewyddu, Cynllunio a Datblygiad Cynaliadwy), Mrs B. Jones 
(Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol), D.V. Poole (Tai), T. Williams (Priffyrdd, Cludiant a 
Pheirianneg) ac R. Woodyatt (Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol). 

 
 

Ar y cyd gyda: 
 

 C. Burns (Prif Weithredwr Dros Dro), N. Scammell (Cyfarwyddwraig Gwasanaethau 
Corfforaethol ac 151), C. Harrhy (Cyfarwyddwraig Cymunedau Corfforaethol) a D. Street 
(Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol Dros Dro - Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol). 
 

Hefyd yn Bresennol: 
 

 R. Hartshorn (Pennaeth Diogelwch y Cyhoedd), T. Broadhurst (Pennaeth Adran - Ystadau) a 
C. Evans (Swyddog Gwasanaethau Pwyllgor).  

 
    

1.  YMDDIHEURIADAU DROS ABSENOLDEB 
 

 Nid oedd unrhyw ymddiheuriadau dros absenoldeb 
 
  

2. DATGANIADAU DIDDORDEB 
 
             Datganodd y Cynghorydd D. Hardacre ddiddordeb yn yr eitem sy'n ymwneud â Thir yn Heol Cefn  

Uchaf, Deri.   Mae manylion ar gofnodion gyda'r eitem berthnasol. 
 
 

3. CABINET – 27AIN GORFFENNAF 2016 
 

PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo cofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 27ain 
Gorffennaf 2016 (rhifau cofnod. 1- 11) fel cofnod cywir. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 3

Page 1



4. PANEL YMGYNGHOROL CENEDLAETHAU’R  DYFODOL A GYNHALIWYD AR 9FED 

MEHEFIN 2016 . 

 
PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo cofnodion Panel Ymgynghorol Cenedlaethau'r 
Dyfodol Ymgynghorol a gynhaliwyd ar 9fed Mehefin 2016 ( rhifau cofnod 1 - 9) i nodi. 
 

 
5. TIR YN HEOL CEFN UCHAF, DERI. 

 

 Datganodd y Cynghorydd D. Hardacre ddiddordeb (oherwydd ei gysylltiad personol gyda'r 
prynwr posibl y tir ) a gadawodd y cyfarfod yn ystod y drafodaeth ar yr eitem hon. 

 

Roedd yr adroddiad yn gofyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cabinet i waredu tir yn Heol Cefn Uchaf, 
Deri.  

 

Nododd yr aelodau fod y tir ym meddiant Cyngor Dosbarth Cwm Rhymni gynt yn Ionawr 1980.  
Cafodd maes chwarae ei sefydlu ar y tir o dan Gynllun Ardal Gwella Cyffredinol, a ariannwyd 
gan y Swyddfa Gymreig.  Fodd bynnag, symudwyd yr offer chwarae yn ddiweddarach, ond 
mae'r Cyngor wedi parhau i gynnal yr ardal o dan y contract cynnal a chadw tiroedd fel ardal o 
dir agored anffurfiol. 
 
Ar ôl ystyried i werthu'r tir fel llain adeiladu preswyl, mae Cyngor Cymuned Cwm Darran wedi 
codi gwrthwynebiadau yn erbyn y cynnig hwn ar sail  "problemau hanesyddol gyda mynediad, 
ar gyfer cerbydau a deunydd, a materion sy'n ymwneud â dŵr a nant ffrwd/gyfagos."  Yn unol 
â'r weithdrefn y cytunwyd arni, gofynnwyd i'r Cabinet ystyried y cynnig. 
 
Holodd un Aelod am y gwrthwynebiad a godwyd a gofynnodd am wybodaeth bellach ar y 
mynediad i'r tir.  Amlygodd y Swyddogion bod yna lethr serth i gael mynediad at y tir, fodd 
bynnag, bydd ymgynghoriad pellach yn cael ei wneud gyda'r Adran Priffyrdd, cyn y 
gwerthiant. 
 
Yn dilyn ystyriaeth a thrafodaeth, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhelliad yn yr adroddiad yn 
cael ei gymeradwyo.  Cytunwyd ar hyn yn unfrydol drwy godi dwylo. 

  
 PENDERFYNWYD derbyn am y rhesymau a geir yn adroddiad y Swyddogion, mae'r 

tir yn cael ei werthu ar y farchnad agored ar gyfer datblygiad preswyl. 
 

 

ARGYMHELLION I'R CYNGOR 

 

 

6.       AWDURDODI SWYDDOGION -  CYNLLUNIAU GRANT  CYMUNEDOL/PARTNERIAETH 
 
 Roedd yr adroddiad yn gofyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cabinet i awdurdodi Swyddogion mewn 

perthynas â gweithredu'r cynlluniau grant cymunedol/partneriaeth o fewn yr Isadran Diogelu'r 
Cyhoedd a chymeradwyaeth newid dilynol i Gyfansoddiad y Cyngor cyn ei gyflwyno i'r Cyngor 
i'w cymeradwyo ar gyfer Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Swyddog Monitro’r Cyngor 
Dros Dro ac i gynnwys y newidiadau. 

 
           Mae'r adroddiad yn amlinellu'r newidiadau arfaethedig i Gyfansoddiad y Cyngor yn dilyn 

newidiadau sefydliadol, lle mae Pennaeth Diogelu’r Cyhoedd bellach yn gyfrifol am y 
swyddogaeth Polisi Corfforaethol gan gynnwys gweinyddu Cronfa Cymorth Technegol, sy'n 
cael ei gadeirio gan yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adfywio.  Sefydlwyd y gronfa i helpu sefydliadau 
gwirfoddol a grwpiau cymunedol yn y fwrdeistref i dalu costau ffioedd proffesiynol cyn 
cyflwyno cais, technegol neu gyfreithiol, ar gyfer prosiectau cyfalaf.  Mae'r Gronfa Grantiau 
Bach Gwyrddach Caerffili yn darparu hyd at £10,000 mewn arian cyfatebol ar gyfer prosiectau 
partneriaeth er mwyn cyflawni gwelliant a manteision amgylcheddol gwirioneddol i'r gymuned, 
mae ceisiadau yn cael eu hystyried gan Bartneriaeth Caerffili Gwyrddach. 

Page 2



 
 Nododd yr aelodau fod, o ganlyniad i newidiadau trefniadol, bod y swyddogaeth Polisi 

Corfforaethol yn awr yn eistedd gyda Phennaeth Diogelu’r Cyhoedd ac felly gofynnir bod 
Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor yn cael ei ddiwygio i adlewyrchu'r newidiadau hyn ac ychwanegu'r 
ddirprwyaeth ar gyfer cymeradwyo neu wrthod ceisiadau am gyllid o dan Gronfa Cymorth 
Technegol a Chronfa Grantiau Bach Gwyrddach Caerffili i'r swyddogaeth Polisi Corfforaethol. 

 
           Yn dilyn ystyriaeth a thrafodaeth, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd bod yr argymhelliad yn yr adroddiad yn 

cael ei gymeradwyo.  Cytunwyd ar hyn yn unfrydol drwy godi dwylo. 
 
 PENDERFYNWYD am y rhesymau a gynhwysir yn Adroddiad y Swyddog: 
 

(I) awdurdodi unrhyw Gyfarwyddwr neu Bennaeth Diogelu’r  Cyhoedd i gymeradwyo neu wrthod 
ceisiadau o dan y cynlluniau grant a nodir ym mharagraff 4.2 yr adroddiad; 
 
(ii )yn cael ei argymell i'r Cyngor bod y newidiadau arfaethedig i Gyfansoddiad y Cyngor fel y nodir 
ym mharagraff 4.4 o'r adroddiad yn cael eu cymeradwyo a bod Swyddog Monitro'r Cyngor yn cael 
awdurdod dirprwyedig i wneud y diwygiadau angenrheidiol i Gyfansoddiad y Cyngor. 

 

 
Terfynwyd y cyfarfod am 2.18pm 

 
 

Cymeradwywyd a Llofnodwyd eu bod yn gofnod cywir yn amodol ar unrhyw gywiriadau a 
wnaed yn y cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 21 Medi, 2016. 

 
 

____________________ 
CADEIRYDD 

Page 3



Page 4

Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 
 

 

 

CABINET – 21ST SEPTEMBER 2016  
 

SUBJECT: FOCHRIW COMMUNITY CENTRE – YOUTH SERVICE PROVISION 

 

REPORT BY: CHIEF EDUCATION OFFICER 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to seek the Cabinet’s agreement to utilise £126,000 previously 
set aside in the Capital Programme to develop youth service facilities on the Fochriw 
Community Centre site. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 

 
2.1 The report seeks approval to provide an extension to the Fochriw Community Centre to 

enhance youth service provision on the site. 
 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 

 

3.1 The report links directly to the Education for Life, sustainability and regeneration strategies. 
 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 

4.1 A budget of £126,000 was originally set aside in the Council’s Capital Programme in 2013-14 
to provide an extension to accommodate the Youth Service on the site of Fochriw Community 
Centre.  

 
4.2 At that time, the £126,000 was intended to be the Council’s match funded contribution to a bid 

by the Community Centre Management Committee to the Welsh Government’s Community 
Facilities Programme. This bid has not been successful. 

 
4.3 The Youth Service has a youth club provision currently within the Community Centre and rent 

space for 2 nights a week for 30 weeks per annum.  The Fochriw Youth Club serves 133 
members, most of whom attend the centre on a weekly basis. 

 
4.4 An updated proposal has recently been developed to provide a smaller scale extension to the 

Community Centre. The extension would comprise  an area of circa 55 square metres to 
include separate store and multi use rooms. 

 
 
5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 

5.1 An EIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council's Strategic Equality 
Plan and supplementary guidance.  No potential for unlawful discrimination and/or low level or 
minor negative impact has been identified, therefore a full EIA has not been carried out. 

  

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 4

Page 5



 
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1 Details are contained within Section 4 of the report, as above. 
 
 
7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 There are no personnel implications related to this report. 
 
 
8. CONSULTATIONS 

 
8.1 A full list of consultees are shown. 
 
8.2 All views have been incorporated into the report. 
 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION 

 
9.1 Cabinet are requested to endorse the £126,000 set aside in the Capital Programme to 

develop the youth service facilities on the site of Fochriw Community Centre as outlined in the 
report. 

 
 
10. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 

 
10.1 To develop youth service facilities on the site of Fochriw Community Centre. 
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  
 
11.1 Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000. 
 
11.2 This is a Cabinet function. 
 
 
Author: Bleddyn Hopkins    E-Mail: hopkib@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Chris Burns, Interim Chief Executive  
 Keri Cole, Chief Education Officer 
 Nicole Scammell, Head of Corporate Finance and S151 
 Dave Street, Corporate Director - Social Services 
 Christina Harrhy, Corporate Director - Communities 
 Councillor Derek Havard, Cabinet Member for Education 
 Lynne Donovan, Acting Head of Human Resources and Organisational Development 
 Jane Southcombe, Financial Services Manager 
 Gail Williams, Interim Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
 Colin Jones, Head of Performance and Property Services 
 Mark Williams, Building Consultancy Manager 
 Gareth Evans, Senior Manager, Planning & Strategy 
 Steve Hawkins, Community Centres Service Manager 
 Paul O’Neill, Community Education Manager 
 Fochriw Community Centre Management Committee 
 

Page 6



 
 

 

 

CABINET – 21ST SEPTEMBER 2016 
 

SUBJECT: WASTE COLLECTION REVIEW AND PROPOSED MINOR CHANGES TO 

CURRENT COLLECTION ARRANGEMENTS FOR FOOD/GARDEN 

WASTE 

 

REPORT BY: ACTING DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES AND SECTION 151 

OFFICER 

 

 
1.1 The attached report was considered by the Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny 

Committee on 20th September 2016, prior to its referral to Cabinet. 
 
1.2 The views expressed by the Scrutiny Committee will be reported verbally to Cabinet. 
 
 
Author:  R. Barrett, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4245 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Report to Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny Committee on 20th September 

2016 – Agenda Item 10 

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 5

Page 7



Page 8

Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –
20TH SEPTEMBER 2016

SUBJECT: WASTE COLLECTION REVIEW AND PROPOSED MINOR CHANGES TO 
CURRENT COLLECTION ARRANGEMENTS FOR FOOD/GARDEN 
WASTE

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To update the Scrutiny Committee on progress made with the Collaborative Change 
Programme (CCP).

1.2 To advise members of the outcome of the recent Wales Audit Office Review of Waste 
Management. 

1.3 To seek the views of members on proposed minor changes to the current collection 
arrangements for the food and garden waste prior to consideration by Cabinet.

2. SUMMARY

2.1 The CCP has been established by Welsh Government to facilitate the delivery of more 
sustainable waste management services across Wales by offering strategic and tailored 
support to help local authorities achieve the outcomes of the Towards Zero Waste Strategy.  
Caerphilly has been engaged in the CCP since early 2015 and is currently reviewing its waste 
collection/disposal options. The CCP is not yet complete and there are no firm 
recommendations to consider at this present time, although considerable progress has been 
made.

2.2 In May 2016 the Welsh Audit Office (WAO) undertook a high level review of the Councils 
progress in considering changes to the waste and recycling service to meet future statutory 
targets.  Based on the review WAO are “reassured that the Council is taking a measured and 
mature approach in considering options for its waste and recycling service and recognised 
areas that require strengthening”. The letter also addressed some areas for consideration.

2.3 The co-collected weekly food/garden waste collection service was introduced in October 
2009, to co-incide with the transition to fortnightly residual waste collection.  The service 
currently collects approximately 11,000 tonnes per annum (estimated split of circa 8,000
tonnes food waste and 3,000 tonnes of garden waste). This is currently processed via in 
vessel composting (IVC) at Bryn Compost Gelligaer.  It is recognised that in the longer term 
food waste needs to be collected and treated separately via Anaerobic Digestion (AD) in 
accordance with WG policy.  In January 2016, Cabinet agreed that the Authority would 
commence a food/garden waste treatment procurement. In the meantime, however, under our 
existing contractual agreement with Bryn Compost we have the opportunity to utilise their AD 
plant which has been operational since 2016, but to do so would involve a change to our 
current collection methods. 

Page 9



2.4 The current food waste participation rate is 38.1% and a recent study has shown that 28-30% 
of the residual waste collected is still food waste.  In order to increase food waste participation 
a dedicated communication campaign is required.

3. LINKS TO STRATEGY

3.1 The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 sets out a number of goals/principles 
which public bodies must apply in the strategies and services they deliver.  These include:-

A prosperous Wales

A resilient Wales

A healthier Wales

A more equal Wales

A Wales of cohesive communities

A Wales of Vibrant Culture and thriving Welsh language

A globally responsible Wales.

Sustainable Waste Management Services undoubtedly contribute to 7 of these 8 principles
and there are particular economic and environmental benefits associated with the treatment of 
food waste by anaerobic digestion. 

3.2 The Community & Leisure Services Divisional Service Improvement Plan contains specific 
objectives to meet a range of statutory and non statutory targets.  A number of these 
objectives contribute to the “Greener” theme within “Caerphilly delivers” the Local Service 
Board Single Integrated Plan.

3.3 Towards Zero Waste One Wales: One Planet, 2010, is the overarching Waste Strategy for 
Wales which sets out Welsh Government’s long term framework for resource efficiency and
waste management including high level targets and outcomes. In 2011, this was 
supplemented by the publication of The Municipal Sector Plan Part 1 which outlines the Welsh 
Government’s recommended service profile for the collection of waste from households 
(Collection blueprint). 

4. THE REPORT

4.1 Collaborative Change Programme (CCP)

4.1.1 The Welsh Government CCP offers strategic and tailored support to help local 
authorities achieve the outcomes of the Towards Zero Waste Strategy.  The support 
covers four key phases:-

Business Planning Toolkit

Identification of gaps and changes needed to achieve targets.

Detailed Planning with forward cost forecast

Implementation of the plan.

4.1.2 The Authority has been fully engaged in the process since mid 2015 and has been 
allocated support from Welsh Government via the Waste Resources Action 
Programme (WRAP) and their appointed consultants to undertake service reviews.  A 
number of service areas across waste management are currently being reviewed and 
options being explored.  These include:-

i). Kerbside Collection – Recycling, Organics and Residual Waste
ii). Commercial Waste Collections
iii). Transfer Station/ Depot Infrastructure
iv). Household Waste Recycling Centres. 
i). Kerbside Collection – Recycling, Organics and Residual - In June 2015 

Page 10



WRAP produced the first kerbside Analysis Tool (KAT) report which provided a starting 
point for a transparent and informed debate between WRAP and Council Officers on 
future service collection options.  KAT is a publically available model which allows 
users to make projections of kerbside collection infrastructure and associated 
standardised costs using default and user defined values to key parameters.
The purpose of the KAT modelling is to consider several collection options for 
recycling, residual and organics services including the current service configurations to 
ascertain the most cost effective, efficient and performance driven options for future 
service delivery to take forward to a more robust business planning stage.

A further KAT modelling report with reduced options was produced in December 2015.  
Officers have provided constructive challenge to the KAT modelling exercises 
throughout the process to ensure the Caerphilly local context is at the forefront of any 
consideration to service change recognising the high satisfaction levels with our 
current service configuration.

Officers still have a number of key concerns relating to the outcome of the KAT 
modelling and assumptions that have been made in areas such as material income, 
participation rates, round size and vehicle numbers.  These along with further options 
will be presented to Members at a later date for consideration. Senior officers and 
cabinet have agreed that full Council will take the decision whether to make significant 
changes to the current service provision.

ii). Commercial Waste Collections - Amec Foster Wheeler was commissioned 
by WRAP to complete a review of the Authority’s trade waste collection service.  An 
initial report received in February 2016, outlined the Authority’s potential to increase 
recycling from trade waste premises.  Based on Amec Foster Wheeler’s estimate the 
service currently has a recycling rate of 6.2% which could be increased.  However, 
cost and income projections will need to be carefully considered.  In addition, the 
service needs to be considered alongside any changes to the domestic service as 
both streams are currently co-collected.  Officers have also asked for further 
clarification and provided supplementary information which will inform Phase 2 of the 
review which is yet to be completed.

iii). Transfer Station/ Depot Infrastructure - If there is a change from the current 
co-mingled recycling service to a twin stream/source segregated service the current 
depot/waste transfer provisions will not be sufficient.  As part of the CCP process and 
to inform the KAT modelling and business planning stages WRAP have commissioned 
Resource Futures to undertake a review of current depot/waste transfer station 
infrastructure and future requirements if service changes are implemented.  As part of 
this process several sites have been considered including Trehir, Full Moon, the
former Severnside Site at Bedwas and the Parks depot at Penallta. 

iv). Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC’s) - WRAP have 
commissioned Resource Futures to undertake a review of HWRC provision across the 
County Borough.  This will include a spatial assessment and high level performance 
review.  An inception meeting was held on 24th May 2016 and officers are currently 
awaiting a project plan which will include timescales followed by a draft report.

4.1.3 Following the final reports from the above work streams a business plan will be 
prepared which will include a cost benefit analysis and identification of gaps/changes 
required to achieve future targets.

4.1.4 In recognition of the profile, cost and high satisfaction levels with the Authority’s waste 
services the review has also been included as one of the Authority’s Business 
Improvement Projects which will report to the Business Improvement Programme 
Board.

Page 11



4.2 Wales Audit Office Review

4.2.1 In May 2016, as part of their 2015-16 Audit Plan, Wales Audit Office undertook a high 
level review of the Council’s progress in considering changes to the waste and 
recycling services to meet future statutory targets.

4.2.2 A letter issued by WAO (Appendix 1) recognises that the Council is taking “a
measured and mature approach” in considering options for its waste and recycling 
service by proactively engaging with WRAP as part of the CCP.  It states that there is 
a clear understanding by officers and senior Cabinet members for the rationale for 
considering different options and recognises the clear governance arrangements in 
place. As acknowledged in the letter and mentioned in 4.1.2 Senior Officers and 
Cabinet have agreed that full Council will take the decision whether to make significant 
changes to the current service collection arrangements.

4.2.3 The review also recognises areas that require strengthening.  These include the 
production of a detailed project plan to facilitate ongoing monitoring and 
implementation of key actions, timescales and decisions.  It is recommended that the 
project plan includes a communication and engagement plan which will be vital if the 
Council considers changes to its collection arrangements in the future.

4.2.4 The recommendations outlined in the review are for consideration only but will be 
implemented as our engagement with the CCP develops.  A draft project plan has 
been produced but this needs to be updated and expanded as information and
timescales become apparent.

4.2.5 The review is complementary in recognising that the Council has not waited for the 
outcome of the CCP review to address any performance issues.  It makes reference to 
the 7 sin recycling bin campaign which had a positive impact on the Council’s recycling 
performance and refers to other areas where there are opportunities to make changes 
that could positively affect recycling performance.  These include increasing 
participation in food waste recycling, improving trade waste, continuing with the 7 sin 
bin campaign and separate food and garden waste collections.

4.3 Food and Garden Waste

4.3.1 Current Service Provision and performance 

4.3.1.1 The weekly food/garden waste collection service was introduced in October 
2009, to co-incide with the transition to fortnightly residual waste collections.  
The service currently collects approximately 11,000 tonnes per annum 
(estimated split of 4,000 - 5,000 tonnes food waste and 6,000 – 7,000 tonnes 
garden waste) which is processed via an in-vessel composting (IVC) at Bryn 
Compost, Gelligaer.  In its current co-collected format the service does not 
comply with WG policy and strategic direction referred to in 3.3 which favours 
separate food waste collections treated through anaerobic digestion (AD).

4.3.1.2 In May 2016, a monitoring exercise was undertaken to ascertain levels of 
public participation in the food waste service.  The study, which was based on 
a sample of 7,000 properties, indicated an average participation rate (over a 3-
week cycle) of 38.1%.

4.3.1.3 Data obtained from other 4 Welsh Local Authorities (Table 1. below) indicates 
that the participation rate experienced in Caerphilly is low.

Page 12



Table 1 – Participation data from other Local Authorities

Local Authority Number of 
Properties

Participants % Total 
Participation

Cardiff 10355 5628 54.35%

Pembrokeshire 11832 5774 48.80%

Carmarthenshire 5520 2903 52.59%

Blaenau Gwent
Pre- Communication Campaign

38.60%

Blaenau Gwent
Post Communication Campaign

49.80%

4.3.1.4 In June 2016, WRAP Cymru released a report entitled “National Municipal 
Waste Compositional Analysis in Wales”.  A compositional analysis of all 
municipal waste streams was carried out in all 22 local authorities and took 
place over two seasons – summer and winter 2015. The analysis looked at all 
waste streams including waste collections and household waste recycling 
centres.

4.3.1.5 The compositional analysis undertaken in Caerphilly demonstrated that the 
fortnightly residual waste stream contains 28-30% food waste despite a weekly 
food/garden waste service being in operation.  This is slightly higher than the 
National average of 24.8% and indicates the potential for the Authority to 
increase its capture rate of food waste to contribute to the achievement of 
statutory targets.

4.3.2 Future Service Configuration

4.3.2.1 As stated previously, the food/garden waste (although presented separately by 
the householder) is currently co-collected using refuse collection vehicles
(RCV’s) and treated via in-vessel composting at Bryn Compost, Gelligaer.  It is 
recognised that food waste over the longer term needs to be collected and 
treated separately via anaerobic digestion (AD) in accordance with WG policy.  
In January 2016, Cabinet made the decision to withdraw from the HoV 
Organics collaboration and commence its own AD food/garden waste treatment 
procurement, which may also include food waste transfer infrastructure. This
procurement will commence in the Autumn of 2016. 

4.3.2.2 The current contractual arrangement with Bryn Compost expires in November 
2016 with an option to extend for a further 2 years. Bryn has recently 
constructed an AD plant on its site which has been operational since early 
2016.  Under the existing contractual arrangements the Authority has the 
opportunity to utilise this facility but this would involve a change to our current 
collection methods to enable food waste to be collected separately.

4.3.2.3 Residents currently present their food and garden waste separately using 23 
litre caddies and reusable garden waste sacks.  It would not be necessary to 
change this container provision to facilitate a change of treatment methods.  
However, it would be necessary to review the current collection arrangements 
in relation to the vehicles used and round configurations to ensure that the two 
waste fractions are treated separately (Garden waste cannot be treated by 
AD). However, given the potential savings that could be realised, making this 
change at the earliest possible date is recommended.

Table 2. outlines food/garden waste tonnages collected in 2014/15 and 
2015/16.   

Page 13



Table 2 - Kerbside Food and Garden Waste Tonnage

Tonnage Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total

2015/16
(Total organic)

3,371 3,316 2,316 1,954 10,957

Food (estimate) 2,023 1,990 2,200 1,856 8,069

Green (estimate) 1,348 1,326 116 98 2,888

2014/15
(Total organic)

3,663 3,482 2,302 1,958 11,405

Food (estimate) 2,198 2,089 2,187 1,860 8,334

Green (estimate) 1,465 1,393 115 98 3,071

Whilst it is anticipated that food waste remains fairly constant throughout the 
year, it can be seen from the table above that the quantity of garden waste in 
the winter period is negligible (circa 200 tonnes).  

4.3.2.4 Currently, there are 7 RCV’s which collect food/garden waste weekly.  In order 
to collect food waste only, there are a number of options for future collection 
methods that need to be considered.  These are outlined below for the 
committee to consider and recommend a preferred method to Cabinet. 

Option 1 – Winter suspension of Green Waste, Weekly Green Waste 
(Spring/Summer only) & All Year Round Weekly Food Waste Collection.
The current 7 refuse collection vehicles used for collecting the mixed food and 
garden waste could be reduced to 5 during 2017/18 (this then allows collection 
rounds to be reconfigured over the 2016 winter)

However, each vehicle would be covering an increased amount of properties 
totalling approximately 3,000 per day.  This may need to be reviewed over the 
longer-term if food waste participation increases significantly. The round 
configuration will lead to changes in collection days for some residents.  
However, the disruption will be minimised, and any changes communicated to 
residents in February 2017 in advance of implementation in March.

This option would involve the suspension of garden waste collection during the 
winter months i.e. November to February inclusive.  However, in order to 
continue to collect garden waste weekly a further 5 vehicles would be required
during the spring and summer, (commencing in the spring of 2017).  The 
vehicle configuration moving forward would therefore be as follows:-

Winter 2016 – Existing fleet of 7 vehicles collecting food only

Spring/Summer 2017 – 5 food waste vehicles and 5 Garden Waste 
vehicles (the overall increase in vehicles from 7 to 10 for 8 months of 
the year is required to undertake two weekly collections for all 
properties within the Borough. Currently only one weekly collection is 
made).

Winter 2017 – 5 Food waste vehicles

The suspension of the garden waste service would be implemented for 4 
months with the last collection taking place on the last Friday in October then 
resuming on the first Monday in March. As this is a minor change to existing 
service provision, residents would be notified via Newsline and other 
communication channels in advance. Residents would be able to dispose of 
garden waste at household waste recycling centres or through the Authority’s 
chargeable bulky garden waste service.

Page 14



This option would incur additional collection costs but would realise savings in 
treatment costs.

Option 2 – Use of Twin Pack Collection Vehicles to collect Food and 
Garden Waste Weekly All Year Round.
If the Authority was minded to purchase a fleet of twin pack collection vehicles 
(total capital cost circa £1.6m) then it could continue to provide a year round 
food and garden waste collection service while also achieving separation of the 
2 waste fractions to enable the food to be treated via the WG preferred method 
of AD and garden waste to be windrow composted.

This system would operate with 7 front line twin pack collection vehicles 
(supported by 2 back-up vehicles to allow for downtime resulting from routine 
maintenance, inspection, etc.) with the result that there would be no increase in 
collection costs and additional savings being realised in treatment costs.

As a result of the geography of the County Borough it would be necessary to 
acquire narrow chassis twin pack collection vehicles.  These are a relatively 
new development by collection vehicle manufacturers but unfortunately there is 
a 20-24 week build and delivery time from the date of order. Consequently, the 
earliest delivery date would be Spring 2017 and consideration of an interim 
option for the winter of 2016/17 is therefore required.  There are 3 options 
relating to this interim 4 month period and these are outlined below as Options 
A, B and C.

Option A - Continued, weekly collection of food waste + Interim suspension of 
garden waste for the winter of 2016/17 followed by new twin pack collection to 
commence April 2017.  This option does not involve any additional collection 
costs but there is a change required for residents.

Option B - Continued weekly collection of food waste + Implementation of an 
interim weekly collection of garden waste for winter of 2016/17 using 7 caged 
tippers + 14 staff followed by new twin pack collection to commence April 2017.  
This option involves additional collection costs although they are partially offset 
by treatment cost savings.

Option C - Continued weekly collection of food waste + Implementation of a 
“request only” collection service for garden waste for winter of 2016/17 using
two refuse collection vehicles + 4 staff followed by new twin pack collection to 
commence April 2017.  This option involves some additional costs but these 
are more than offset by treatment cost savings.

4.3.2.5 A summary of these options is included as Appendix 2 to this report.  The 
detailed financial implications are included in section 6 below.

4.3.2.6 As part of the CCP, officers have further explored reducing the frequency of 
garden waste collections from weekly to fortnightly.  However, this could lead to 
a reduction in our overall recycling/composting performance which could affect 
the Authority’s ability to achieve the WG statutory targets so is not 
recommended.

4.3.2.7 The Bryn Power anaerobic digester currently powers the plant itself, as well as 
the Bryn Compost Recycling Site and 3400 homes.  This would be increased to 
an additional 1150 homes with the inclusion of food waste from the Authority.  
Bryn Compost has advised that this will also lead to the down-scaling and 
eventual closure of the IVC. Garden waste will be treated via windrow.

Page 15



4.3.3 Education & Increasing Participation

4.3.3.1 In order to encourage participation in the food waste service a communication 
plan including a borough wide doorstepping campaign has been implemented 
from August 2016.  A team of recycling advisors have been recruited on a 
temporary basis to undertake door to door visits.  They are offering advice, 
guidance and encouragement as well as distributing information leaflets and 
food waste containers.  The advisors are also placing “No Food Waste“ stickers 
on the residual and recycling containers as a lasting reminder of the correct 
disposal option. 

4.3.3.2 In order to assess the effectiveness of the campaign a follow up monitoring
exercise will be undertaken.  Whilst an increase in participation/tonnage cannot 
be guaranteed it is anticipated (based on previous doorstepping campaigns) 
that this form of communication has a positive effect on behaviour. 
From the experience in Blaenau Gwent (Table 1. above) a dedicated 
communication campaign increased participation from 38.6 – 49.8%.

4.3.3.3 Early signs from this campaign are encouraging with an increase in requests 
for food waste collection caddies.  The tonnage of food waste captured will 
need to be kept under review as the round structure and proposed changes 
have been based on current participation levels and current tonnages captured.

4.3.3.4 Officers have contacted WRAP who have financially supported communication 
activity relating to food waste in other local authorities across Wales. As 
Caerphilly is not part of a collaborative AD Hub funding was declined.

4.3.3.5 In order to encourage participation further, officers are currently considering the 
implementation of a food waste incentive scheme.  This could be on an 
individual, school or community basis.  Further consideration will be given 
following the completion of the door stepping campaign and evaluation of the 
results. 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no potential equalities implications associated within this report for specific groups 
or individuals.  Therefore there is no requirement for an Equality Impact Assessment to be 
undertaken.

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The financial implications associated with the CCP review will be presented in a future report.

6.2 The full year financial implications associated with food/garden waste proposed service 
changes are as follows:

Table 3 - Proposed Full Year Service Costs by Option

Existing Service (£) Option 1 Option 2

Labour 549,360 680,610 549,360

Vehicles

Hire n/a 97,125 n/a

Fuel 100,875 125,875 100,875

Repair/Fleet 
Overhead/Licences etc.

200,119 200,119 200,119

Treatment 616,000 269,024 269,024

Total 1,466,354 1,372,753 1,119,378

Saving = £93,601 ** Saving = £346,976

Page 16



** There is a potential further £50,000 per annum saving relating to Option 2 as 
purchase of a twin pack fleet will facilitate the off hire of an existing refuse collection
vehicle within the CCBC fleet.

6.3 Table 3 (above) illustrates the full year savings associated with the 2 main options and as can 
be seen there are significant savings associated with Option 2 (use of narrow chassis twin 
pack collection vehicles).  This option will result in savings of circa £400,000 per annum as it 
facilitates the off-hire of a refuse collection vehicle in addition to the savings associated with 
the separate treatment of food and garden waste.

6.4 However, there is a capital expenditure requirement of £1.62m associated with the purchase 
of 9 No. narrow chassis twin pack collection vehicles.  Members will recall that the 2016/17 
budget report approved by Council on the 24th February 2016 included details of the Capital 
Programme for the period 2016/17 to 2018/19. The approved capital budget for 2016/17 
included a capital earmarked reserve of £7.9m which was available through the release of 
General Fund balances; capital underspends in previous years and capital receipts. None of 
the £7.9m funding is currently committed so in the event of option 2 being the preferred option 
of Members, the Scrutiny Committee is asked to support a recommendation to Cabinet to 
utilise £1.62m of the £7.9m funding to purchase the 9 narrow twin pack collection vehicles.

6.5 As stated in 4.3.2.4 above the implementation of the twin pack collection method will require
an interim solution during the winter of 2016/17 (November – March).  The interim costs of 
these options are as follows:-

Table 4 – Interim costs/savings (winter 2016/17) 

Option A –
Interim Suspension of 

Garden Waste 
Collection

Option B –
Maintenance of 

weekly service using 
7 No. caged vehicles.

Option C –
Request only 

Collection Service 
using 2 RCV’s

Labour 0 £120,693 £40,000

Vehicle Costs
(Hire, fuel, o/heads. 
licences, etc.)

0 £37,247 £54,000

Treatment Saving £95,000 £95,000 £95,000

Net Cost or Saving £95,000
Saving

£62,940
Additional Cost

£1,000
Saving

6.6 The primary aim of making this change is to enable the Authority to process its food waste via 
the Welsh Government preferred method of Anaerobic Digestion.  An additional cost saving 
benefit will result but the level of savings outlined above are based on a set of assumptions 
relating to the food/green split currently estimated and existing participation levels.  Changes 
to any of these could affect the savings levels in a positive or negative way. For example, 
increases in food waste participation may incur additional collection costs but this may be 
offset by residual waste disposals costs.  Officers will continue to review this position.

6.7 It is also worth noting that the above calculations are based on indicative tonnages of food 
waste as the exact quantities are not known.  Additionally, the calculation does not include 
any increases in public participation/capture that may be achieved as a result of the
communication activity.

7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Personnel implications are dependent on the option selected.  For example, Option 1 which 
involves the winter suspension of green waste would involve changes to round sizes and 

Page 17



potential changes in staff duties.  In this case service managers would work with colleagues in 
HR and the relevant Trade Unions to manage these changes with staff in accordance with the 
Authority’s HR policies.  Option 2 would not involve any significant personnel implication as 
the twin-pack collection system would still utilise 7 collection vehicles and collection crews.

8. CONCLUSION

8.1 As can be seen from the text above, there are significant benefits relating to the separate 
collection and treatment of food and garden waste.  These include:

Significant full year revenue savings

Treatment of food waste via the WG preferred technology (AD) at a local site with
current capacity for the Authority’s food waste.

8.2 Given the potential scale of financial savings involved it is the view of officers that decisions 
on changes are taken in a timely manner so that the changes can be made at the earliest 
opportunity after taking account of vehicle acquisition/supply timescales. 

8.3 It is the recommendation of officers that the existing collection system for food and garden 
waste is replaced by Option 2 (use of twin pack collection vehicles) and that interim Option C 
(a request only service for garden waste collection) is implemented for the interim period of 
November 2016 – March 2017 with weekly food waste collection being maintained for the 
same period. 

8.4 In order to implement Option 2 at the earliest possible opportunity (April 2017) the twin pack 
collection vehicles will need to be procured urgently.

9. CONSULTATION

9.1 The report reflects the views of the listed consultees. 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 The Scrutiny Committee is asked to note the content of the update on the CCP review and the 
WAO letter received.

10.2 The views of the Scrutiny Committee are sought on the future options for food and garden 
waste collection and the recommendation of officers outlined in Section 8 of this report.

10.3 The Scrutiny Committee is asked to recommend a future collection option for consideration by 
Cabinet.

11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS

11.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with an update on the progress made with the Authority’s 
involvement with the CCP and recent WAO review.

11.2 To seek the views of the Scrutiny Committee on the proposed changes to the kerbside 
food/garden waste service prior to consideration by Cabinet.

12. STATUTORY POWER 

12.1 Local Government Acts.
Environmental Protection Act 1990.

Page 18



Author: Mark S. Williams, Head of Community & Leisure Services
e-mail: willims@caerphilly.gov.uk Tele: 01495 235070

Consultees: Christina Harrhy, Corporate Director - Communities 
Tony White – Waste Strategy & Operations Manager
Hayley Jones, Principal Waste Management Officer
Councillor Nigel George – Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure Services
Mike Eedy – Finance Manager
Lynne Donovan, Acting Head of Human Resources and Organisational Development
Equalities & Welsh Language Team
Gail Williams, Interim Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer
Steve Harris, Interim Head of Corporate Finance 
Nicole Scammell, Acting Director of Corporate Services & S151

Background Papers:
Towards Zero Waste – One Wales: One Planet
The Overarching Waste Strategy Document for Wales June 2010
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/100621wastetowardszeroen.pdf

Municipal Sector Plan Part 1: Collections Blueprint March 2011
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/110310municipalwasteblueprinten.pdf

Report to Cabinet - Collection of Food and Garden Waste – November 2008

Report to the Living Environment Scrutiny Committee – 23rd June 2009 -Towards Zero Waste One 
Wales: One Planet -Consultation on A New Waste Strategy For Wales

Report to the Living Environment Scrutiny Committee – 23rd June 2009 - Food Waste Collections –
Practical Service Delivery and Communication Issues

Report to Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny Committee – 29th March 2016 - Update On 
Performance against Welsh Government Statutory Recycling Targets

Appendices:
Appendix 1 - WAO Letter, dated 27th July 2016
Appendix 2 - Summary of Options for the future collection of food and garden waste.

Page 19



Mr Chris Burns 

Chief Executive 

Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Penallta House 

Tredomen Park 

Ystrad Mynach 

Hengoed 

CF82 7PG 

Dear Chris 

As part of our 2015-16 audit plan, we undertook a high-level review of the Council’s 

progress in considering changes to the waste and recycling service to meet future 

statutory targets. We undertook this review in May 2016. 

Based on our review, we are reassured that the Council is taking a measured and mature 

approach in considering options for its waste and recycling service and has recognised 

areas that require strengthening.  

In particular, we noted the following positive aspects to the Council’s approach:

1. There is a clear corporate ownership amongst members and officers of the 

approach to date; 

2. Officers and senior cabinet members clearly understand the rationale for 

considering different options. The rationale for considering changes to the services 

are as follows: 

· In 2014-15, the Council’s recycling performance declined to 54.6 per cent. 

Whilst this was above the statutory target of 52 per cent, this was a decrease 

of 3 percentage points from the previous year and a drop in the Council’s 

ranking from 5th to 15th, when compared to other Welsh councils. There were 

concerns that the Council would not meet the 58 per cent statutory target in 

2015-16 and could face financial penalties from the Welsh Government as a 

result. 

· The poor quality and saleability of recycling material due to high levels of 

contamination.  

Reference ARM1603

Date 27 July 2016

Pages 1 of 7

APPENDIX 1

Page 20



 

Our reference: ARM1603 Page 2 of 7 

 

· The Council did not attract a contractor when seeking to procure a Materials 

Recovery Facilities1 contract in 2015. Therefore, the Council entered into a 

contract with the City of Cardiff Council, but this was expensive and not 

sustainable.  

· Resident’s participation levels in food waste recycling is at approximately 40 

per cent. The Council considers that more residents should be recycling food 

waste. 

3. The Council has knowledgeable and experienced officers within the waste and 

recycling service.  

4. There has been early engagement of key senior officers, for example from finance 

and procurement, in consideration of different options and there is clear corporate 

ownership of the activities to date. 

5. The Council is actively considering the impact of any staffing changes and options 

to retain current officer expertise during any possible period of change to service 

delivery. 

6. Senior members demonstrate sound knowledge of the issues facing the waste 

and recycling service. 

7. The Council is pro-actively engaging with the Waste and Resources Action 

Programme (WRAP)2. In June 2015, WRAP produced the first Kerbside Analysis 

Tool modelling report, which provided a starting point for a transparent and 

informed debate between WRAP and Council officers on future service collection 

options. In December 2015, WRAP produced a second Kerbside Analysis Tool 

modelling report with reduced options.  

8. Officers have provided constructive challenge to the Kerbside Analysis Tool 

modelling exercises. This challenge is underpinned by the desire to ensure the 

Caerphilly local context is at the forefront of any consideration to service change 

recognising that satisfaction levels of residents and members with the existing 

service is good.  

                                                
1 Materials Recovery Facility (or MRF) is a specialised plant that receives, separates and prepares recyclable 

materials for sale to end-user manufacturers. It is important that the materials which come out of the MRF 

are clean and properly sorted 
2 WRAP is a not-for-profit company established in 2000. It works with businesses and individuals to help 

them reap the benefits of reducing waste, develop sustainable products and use resources in an efficient 

way. WRAP is backed by government funding from England, Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales. 

Page 21



 

Our reference: ARM1603 Page 3 of 7 

 

9. Projected improvement in the performance of the statutory target of the 

percentage of municipal waste recycled, reused or composted has also been a 

key consideration for the Council. The Council has been challenging WRAP on the 

impact service changes may have on performance. 

10. The Council’s recycling performance was in the top quartile when compared to 

other Welsh councils in 2012-13 and 2013-14. The Council was ranked joint 2nd in 

2012-14 and ranked 5th in 2013-14. However, there was a dip in recycling 

performance in 2014-15 when the Council’s national ranking dropped to 15th. 

11. The Council has not simply waited for the outcome of the work it is doing with 

WRAP to address its declining recycling performance. It has been proactive in 

addressing the problems associated with high levels of recyclate contamination, 

which contributed to its declining recycling performance in 2014-15. The Council 

implemented a ‘seven sin bin’ campaign in autumn 2015. The campaign sought to 

generate awareness, understanding and compliance across the Borough to what 

recycling materials can and cannot be recycled.  It is evident that the campaign 

has had a positive impact on the Council’s recycling performance. The 2015-16 

provisional quarter three performance published by the Welsh Government in May 

2016 shows a quarterly performance of 64 per cent, a 13 percentage point 

increase from the same quarter the previous year and a national ranking of joint 

3rd for the quarter. The Council is on course to exceed the 58 per cent recycling 

target for 2015-16. 

12. The Council has clear governance arrangements in place to oversee its waste and 

recycling activity including:  

· monthly Cabinet Member briefings by the Head of Service; 

· quarterly updates by the Head of Service to informal Cabinet meetings; 

· the establishment of a project team which includes a representative from 

WRAP and the Council’s finance team;  

· waste and recycling has been included on the Regeneration and Environment 

Scrutiny committee work programme; and 

· waste management has been identified as one of the key strategic projects of 

the Council’s Business Improvement Board (BIB)3, which will provide strategic 

overview and direction to the project. 

                                                
3 The Council has established a Business Improvement Board to provide strategic overview and direction to 

its key projects. Membership of the BIB includes senior officers and the Cabinet Member for Governance. 

Page 22



 

Our reference: ARM1603 Page 4 of 7 

 

13. The Council held an elected member seminar in March 2015, which provided 

members with options to decrease the contamination rate of the recyclate thereby 

improving the saleability of the materials and improving performance. Members 

actively engaged in this process by participating in facilitated discussions to 

suggest ideas for improving performance. 

14. Whilst there has been limited engagement with the Regeneration and Environment 

Scrutiny committee to date, this scrutiny committee considered an update on 

performance in March 2016 and officers took the opportunity to provide a high-

level update on progress and current issues. An update on the Kerbside Analysis 

Tool modelling exercise is on the scrutiny committee’s forward work programme 

for September 2016 as the Council recognises the need to engage scrutiny prior 

to it taking any key decisions on its waste service. 

15. Senior officers and Cabinet have agreed that full Council will take the decision 

whether to change the current service collection arrangements. This demonstrates 

a recognition and ownership that this is a whole Council rather than just a Cabinet 

issue.  

16. Whilst there has yet to be any formal consultation with staff, the Council has made 

staff aware of the ongoing work with WRAP and the Council is trialling different 

vehicles in order to assess future options.  

17. The Council is engaging with the Trades Unions and an action change workshop 

with WRAP, Trades Union and staff is planned for the summer. 

18. Members and officers have been proactively learning from the experience of other 

councils that have undergone a change to their waste and recycling collection 

arrangements, developed a Waste Transfer Station and/or developed or expanded 

a Household Waste Recycling Centre. 

19. The Council is part of the Prosiest Gwyrdd4 collaboration and was part of the 

Heads of the Valleys5 (HoV) Organics Procurement hub for the joint procurement 

of food waste and green waste contractors. However, the HoV procurement hub 

failed to move the procurement process beyond the detailed solutions stage as the 

only private sector bidder withdrew from the procurement process. The Council 

                                                
4 Prosiect Gwyrdd is a partnership between Caerphilly Borough County Council, The County Council of the 

City and County of Cardiff, Monmouthshire County Council, Newport Council and Vale of Glamorgan 

Council. The combined municipal waste of the five authorities makes up 40 per cent of the total municipal 

waste of Wales. Prosiect Gwyrdd is committed to looking for the best environmental, cost effective and 

practical solution for waste after recycling and composting has been maximised in each area. 
5 Heads of the Valleys procurement hub: Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council, Torfaen County Borough 

Council and Monmouthshire County Council. 

Page 23



 

Our reference: ARM1603 Page 5 of 7 

 

therefore sensibly reviewed its involvement in the hub and considered three 

options for the future treatment of organic waste.  The three options considered 

were to remain in the HoV hub as it commenced on a second procurement 

process, to join Tomorrows Valley Hub6 to transfer food waste to Bryn Pica 

anaerobic digestion plant, or to commence its own anaerobic digestion food and 

green waste treatment and procurement contract. In January 2016, Cabinet 

considered the advantages and disadvantages of each option and resolved that 

the Council commenced its own anaerobic digestion food and green waste 

treatment procurement.   The Council is now initiating its own procurement but 

remains open-minded to any future joint procurement opportunities and for other 

councils to join its arrangements. 

20. As the Council did not receive any tenders for processing its dry recyclables, the 

Council explored its options and in July 2015, entered into a Materials Recovery 

Facilities contract with the City of Cardiff Council for one year. This contract 

expires on 12 July 2016 and the Council has made provision within its Medium 

Term Financial Plan to renew a Materials Recovery Facility contract for two years 

in order to allow time to consider alternative arrangements.    

21. The Council is currently identifying market interest for the Materials Recovery 

Facility contract. The Corporate Director Communities will make a decision on this 

future contract, following a report to the Corporate Management Team and 

informal Cabinet for information.  

Our review identified the following areas, which we feel the Council would benefit from 

strengthening or developing further:  

22. Although the Council has not had a detailed project plan to shape its activities to 

date, this has not hindered the Council’s progress. However, a formal project plan 

would be beneficial as the Council approaches key decisions about its waste 

services to facilitate ongoing monitoring and implementation of key actions, 

timescales and decisions.  

23. The Council has a draft project plan and this needs to be updated and expanded 

as information and timings becomes more certain. Public engagement and 

consultation will be vital if the Council is considering any changes to its collection 

arrangements. The Council recognises that it needs a communication and 

engagement plan to do this and we would urge the Council to develop this as part 

of its project plan. 

                                                
6 Tomorrows Valley Hub: Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, Newport City Council and Merthyr 

Tydfil County Borough Council. 

Page 24



 

Our reference: ARM1603 Page 6 of 7 

 

24. The Council recognised the need to ensure there is timely engagement with 

Members to prepare them for any decisions, particularly as local elections are 

scheduled for May 2017. 

25. The Council should ensure there is a robust and detailed assessment of options, 

which evaluates the impact, risk, sustainability, projected performance and cost of 

each option. In November 2015, officers took the decision, in accordance with 

their delegated authority, to reduce the number of options identified in the June 

2015 Kerbside Analysis Tool modelling exercise from 11 to four. WRAP was 

engaged in this consideration but the minutes of the meeting in November 2015 

lack detail and do not articulate a robust assessment of the options. It is important 

that officers provide members with a full and robust options appraisal to enable 

them to make informed decisions on the future waste and recycling service 

requirements. Any options presented to members need to consider the 

requirements of the Well-being and Future Generations Act 2015. 

26. In order to develop an alternative solution to the current MRF contract with the City 

of Cardiff Council, we understand the Council is currently considering taking a 

decision on whether to invest in a new Waste Transfer Station in autumn 2016. 

The draft project plan states that the Council will make a decision on whether to 

change the service collection arrangements in the autumn 2017. Ideally, the 

Council should consider taking these two key decisions on its waste and recycling 

activities at the same time. Future decisions on the Council’s collection 

arrangements may influence the design of the waste transfer station. The Council 

needs to assure itself that it has considered all possibilities and implications of 

making these key decisions at different times. The Kerbside Analysis Tool 

modelling report only provides high-level costs for the development of a new 

waste transfer station and the Council recognises that it needs a more detailed 

business case.  

27. WRAP and the Council have different views as to whether there is any outstanding 

information required from WRAP to complete the modelling exercise for the waste 

transfer station and service collection options. The Council should clarify the 

position with WRAP as the Council is delaying activity until it has received the full 

information from WRAP. 

The Council’s provisional 2015-16 quarter three performance is 64 per cent and the 

Council projects that its end of year performance will be between 61 and 62 per cent. The 

Council is therefore likely to exceed the statutory target of 58 per cent.  We recognise that 

this latest performance may have an impact on the timing of the Council’s decisions. The 

next statutory recycling target is 64 per cent in 2019-20 so the Council is already making 

significant progress towards meeting this target. 

Page 25



 

Our reference: ARM1603 Page 7 of 7 

 

The Council recognises that there are other areas where there are opportunities to make 

changes that may positively affect its recycling performance without the need for 

significant service change. For example, increasing participation in food waste recycling, 

improving trade waste, continuing with its ‘seven sin bin’ campaign, and separating food 

and green waste collection. The Council needs to consider all the options and the impact 

each has on meeting future statutory performance targets and on sustaining performance.  

At this time, our review has not taken into account the views of the Regeneration and 

Environment Scrutiny Committee. 

The matters identified above are for your consideration. They are not intended to be 

formal recommendations or proposals for improvement requiring any specific actions to 

be reported to us. However, we assume that you will want to reflect on these and consider 

these matters as the Council continues to consider different options for the waste and 

recycling service.  

Yours sincerely 

 

Alan Morris 

Director, Performance Audit 

 

Page 26



APPENDIX 2 – SUMMARY OF FOOD /GARDEN WASTE COLLECTION OPTIONS

COLLECTION METHOD COLLECTION COSTS
(FULL YEAR £)

TREATMENT 
METHOD/COSTS
(FULL YEAR £)

TOTAL ANNUAL 
REVENUE COST

(£)

NOTES

Current Collection –
Weekly Food/Green mixed 
on RCV all year round on 7 
Rounds.

850,354 616,000
(In Vessel Composting –

IVC)

1,466,354 Residents present Food & Garden Waste separately 
but we then mix in RCV.

Mixed waste can only be treated by IVC

Option 1 –
Winter (Nov-March) 
Suspension of Green, 
Weekly Food (all year round) 
+ Weekly Garden 
(Spring/Summer) 
10 RCV Rounds 
Spring/Summer
5 RCV Rounds Winter 

1,103,729 269,024 
(Anaerobic Digestion – AD)

1,372,753 Slight change for residents as No winter Garden Waste 
Collection.

Enables early use of AD Plant at Bryn Compost.
(Advantages – WG preferred treatment method).

Savings of circa £94k per annum.

Allows Bryn to proceed with closing IVC

Option 2 –
Use of Twin Pack collection 
vehicles to collect Food &
Garden Waste all year 
round.

850,354 269,024
(AD)

1,119,378 This would require circa £1.62m Capital Investment to 
purchase Twin Packs.

Saving of circa £340,000 in collection and treatment 
costs.

Potential further saving of circa £50,000 for off hire of 
one RCV currently in CCBC fleet.

Twin Packs could not be delivered until April 2017.

Consequently 3 Options require consideration for Winter 
2016/17 collection of garden waste.

Option A -
Suspend Garden 
Waste Collection 

Slight Change 
for residents

Saving of 
£95,000 from 
treatment

Option B -
Implement 
Interim System 
for Winter of 
16/17 using 7 x 
3.5 tonne caged 
tippers + 14 staff.

Net 
additional 
cost £65,000

No change 
for residents

Option C -
Implement 
request only 
service using 2 
RCV’s + 4 staff.

Collection 
service still 
available for 
residents on 
request.

Small saving 
of circa 
£1,000

P
a
g
e
 2

7



Page 28

Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 
 

 

 

CABINET – 21ST SEPTEMBER 2016 
 

SUBJECT: INTERMENT OF CREMATED REMAINS 

 

REPORT BY: ACTING DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES AND SECTION 151 

OFFICER 

 

 
1.1 The attached report was considered by the Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny 

Committee on 20th September 2016, prior to its referral to Cabinet. 
 
1.2 The views expressed by the Scrutiny Committee will be reported verbally to Cabinet. 
 
 
Author:  R. Barrett, Committee Services Officer, Ext. 4245 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Report to Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny Committee on 20th September 

2016 – Agenda Item 8 

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 6

Page 29



Page 30

Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 

 

REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –  

20TH SEPTEMBER 2016 

 

SUBJECT: INTERMENT OF CREMATED REMAINS 

 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek the views of the Scrutiny Committee prior to a further report being considered by 

Cabinet on the fee structure for the interment of cremated human remains. 
 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 On the 28th June 2016, members considered a report on the introduction of a new scale of 

charges for additional service provision across the Community & Leisure Services division. 
 
2.2 Members requested further information on two points and an information report was e-mailed 

to all members of the Committee. 
 
2.3 One of the members requested a further report relating to the charges for the interment of 

cremated remains in grave spaces where there were previous interments. 
 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is about improving the social, 

economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales.  It requires public bodies to think 
more about the long term, working with people and communities, looking to prevent problems 
and take a more joined up approach.  This will create a Wales that we all want to live in, now 
and in the future.  The Act puts in place seven wellbeing goals and the contents of this report 
fits into “a more equal Wales”.  This will assist us to deliver our services effectively whilst 
ensuring value for money for residents and service users at probably one of the most difficult 
times of their lives. 

 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 During 2015/16, the Authority dealt with 797 interments within its municipal cemeteries.  This 

is broken down as follows:- 
 

1. Interment of full coffins  = 527 
2. Interment of cremated remains = 270 

 
4.2 Of the 270 interments of cremated remains, 152 of these were within existing full grave 

spaces or cremated remains plots. 
  

Page 31



4.3 The current charging structure for cremated remains is as follows:- 
 

1. New/Reopen cremated remains plot     = £  505.00 
 
2. Reopen an existing full grave      = £  505.00 

(where there will be no further coffin burials) 
 

3. New/Reopen full grave space, where there are future coffin burials = £1,739.00 
(2 depth).  The grave has to be excavated to full depth and the 
remains placed in a position which will not obviate the excavation 
in the future. 

 
4.4 The current fee structure was agreed by members at the inception of Caerphilly County 

Borough Council in 1996.  These fees have been incremented annually in line with members’ 
approval. 

 
4.5 Members will be aware of the Cross Party Task & Finish Group, which considered a raft of 

issues facing the Authority’s bereavement service.  In relation to fees and charges, members 
endorsed the recommendation of the Task & Finish Group that fees should be increased 
annually by 18.5% plus inflation for five years to ultimately make the service self-financing.  
This approval ended in 2015/16 and fees for this current financial year (2016/17) have not 
been increased. 

 
4.6 Caerphilly County Borough Council is an active member of the Continuous Improvement 

Forum for Bereavement Services in South East Wales.  The table below sets out a 
comparison with neighbouring local Authorities fees for the same services:- 

 

 Reopen for Interment 
Within an Existing Grave 

Interment Within a New 
Cremated Remains Plot 

Blaenau Gwent £234.00 £304.00 

Merthyr Tydfil £421.00 £421.00 

Torfaen £256.00 £256.00 

Cardiff £230.00 £230.00 

Caerphilly £505.00 £505.00 

 
 Members should note that these fees only relate to the interment and in the case of new 

cremated remains plots do not include the purchase of the Exclusive Rights of Burial. 
 
4.7 In light of members’ wishes to review this particular aspect of the Authority’s burial fee 

structure, officers have developed a number of options which can possibly be considered by 
the committee.  These are as follows:- 

 
1. The Authority retains its existing fee structure for the interment of cremated remains 

within full graves, which is currently set at £505.00 (this option will not affect current 
income levels). 

 
2. The Authority reduces the reopen fee to £250.00 for interments within cremated 

remains plots and full graves as the Exclusive Rights of Burial (EROB) would have 
already been purchased previously and contributed towards maintenance costs.  This 
will make Caerphilly comparable with the charges levied by our neighbouring local 
authorities. However, should a family wish to inter cremated remains in a new full 
grave where there will be coffin interments in the future, the fee structure set out in 4.3 
bullet point 3 should apply.  Members should note that the proposed reduction of this 
particular fee would affect the overall income levels for the Bereavement Service by 
£38k per annum. 

Page 32



3. In relation to additional interments within the new cremated remains vaults, (a report 
on which members considered in June 2016), it is suggested that the reopen fee be 
set at £100.00.  This reduced fee reflects the simpler process whereby the plot is 
reopened and will generate additional revenue as this is a new service.  Caerphilly 
County Borough Council is the first local authority in South East Wales to install such a 
facility so therefore benchmarking costs against our neighbouring authorities is not 
possible. 

 
 
5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no potential equalities implications within this report for specific groups or 

individuals.  Therefore there is no requirement for an Equalities Impact Assessment to be 
undertaken. 

 
 
6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Reducing the charges as outlined within paragraph 4.7, bullet point 2 of this report, will lead to 

a potential loss of income for the service in the sum of £38k.  This will require a review of 
savings needed from the service area as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 
process going forward.  

 
 
7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no personnel implications associated with this report. 
 
 
8. CONSULTATIONS 
 
8.1 The report reflects the views of the listed consultees. 
 
 
9. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
9.1 Members views are sought on the options outlined at 4.7 above. 
 
 
10. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 To seek the views of the Scrutiny Committee prior to a further report being considered by 

Cabinet. 
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER 
 
11.1 Local Authorities Cemeteries Order 1977 
 Local Government Act 2003 
 
Author: Mike Headington, Acting Parks Manager 
Consultees: Christina Harrhy, Corporate Director Communities 
 Mark S. Williams, Head of Community & Leisure Services 
 Nicole Scammell, Acting Corporate Director & Section 151 Officer 
 Gail Williams, Interim Head of Legal & Democratic Services 
 Councillor Nigel George, Cabinet Member 
 Mike Eedy, Finance Manager 
 Equalities & Welsh Language Team 

Page 33



Background Papers: 
Report to Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny Committee – 28th June 2016 
Information report e-mailed to all members on 8th July 2016. 

Page 34


	Agenda
	3 Cynhaliwyd y Cabinet ar 7fed Medi 2016.
	4 Canolfan Gymunedol Fochriw - Darpariaeth Gwasanaeth Ieuenctid.
	5 Adolygiad o Gasglu Gwastraff a Newidiadau Mân Arfaethedig i Reoliadau Trefniadau Casglu presennol ar gyfer Gwastraff Bwyd / Gardd .
	Atodiad 1

	6 Claddu Gweddillion Amlosgedig.
	Atodiad 1


